A. INTRODUCTION: 

Appellant, Sandra J. Archdale ("Archdale"), is the equitable owner 

of a condominium located at 820 E. Cady Road, Apt. GI05, in Everett 

("the Condo"). She is asking this court to: 

1) Reverse the trial court's decision refusing to quiet title to the 

Condo, despite Archdale being its equitable and constructive owner; 

2) Reverse the trial court's decision ordering Archdale to 

"purchase" the Condo by May 14,2014, or, in the alternative, ordering the 

forced sale of the Condo if Archdale does not "purchase" it by May 14, 

2014; 

3) Reverse the trial court's decision ordering payment to 

Respondent Sharyl O'Danne ("O'Danne") of 25% of the net proceeds of 

the sale of the Condo; 

4) Reverse the trial court's finding that Archdale's action as a 

whole was frivolous within the meaning ofRCW 4.84.185; 

5) Reverse the trial court's order awarding O'Danne $53,396.00 in 

attorney's fees and $1,992.91 costs; and 

6) Remand this matter back to the trial court for determination of 

an award to Archdale for her reasonable attorney's fees and costs. 

In 2004, O'Danne agreed to take title to the Condo in her name as 

an accommodation to Archdale, since Archdale was separated from her 
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husband and did not want his name on the title. Archdale used her 

separate funds to purchase the Condo and paid all mortgage payments, 

taxes, insurance, and dues associated with the Condo. I O'Danne never 

transferred title to Archdale as promised, prompting Archdale to initiate a 

quiet title action. 

The trial court refused to quiet title in to the Condo in Archdale, 

ordered her to "purchase" it, and, absent such "purchase," ordered its 

forced sale within 6 months of trial on a finding that Archdale acted in bad 

faith in not paying off the underlying note and deed of trust upon receipt 

of the proceeds from her mother's estate. The trial court found the action 

frivolous based on findings that Archdale "induced" O'Danne to purchase 

the Condo through a bad faith misrepresentation that she would use her 

inheritance to payoff the mortgage, Archdale "had no need to resort to 

litigation or call upon the equitable powers of the Court," and that 

Archdale "did not have a factual or legal basis for asserting her claim that 

she was entitled to a constructive or other trust." 

Archdale asserts she acted in good faith. Archdale further claims it 

was O'Danne's refusal to honor her promise to quit-claim the Condo's 

J At the time they were due, Archdale did not pay the mortgage payments 
for February and March 2012. Sharyl initially made these payments, and 
Archdale has since reimbursed her. 
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title to Archdale, and O'Danne's refusal to transfer title until the estate of 

the parties' mother was settled, that compelled Archdale to initiate a quiet 

title action. Archdale also asserts her action for a constructive or resulting 

trust was brought in good faith and was not frivolous. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR: 

1. The trial court erred in refusing to quiet title to the Condo, 

despite finding Archdale to be its equitable and constructive owner. 

CP 12:13-15, CP 151, ~1, CP 152, ~~7, 8, Ex. 26. 

2. The trial court erred in finding Archdale refused to payoff 

the Condo's mortgage because "she found out that she would not be able 

to take the property as her separate property [ ... ] because she was still 

married." CP 152, ~3. 

3. The trial court erred in limiting the constructive trust to six 

months and ordering Archdale to "purchase" the Condo by May 14, 2014 

(CP 153, ~~8.a, 10), or, in the alternative, ordering the forced sale of the 

Condo if Archdale was unable to "purchase" it by May 14,2014 (CP 153, 

~8.b). 

4. The trial court erred in granting O'Danne of25% ofthe net 

proceeds of the sale of the Condo (CP 153, ~8.c.ii). 

5. The trial court erred in finding Archdale's action frivolous 

(CP 13, ~2). 
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6. The trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees and costs 

to O'Danne as the "prevailing party" (Finding 1, CP 11, 12, 13 and 14). 

7. The trial court erred in failing to award attorney's fees and 

costs to Archdale. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR: 

1. Whether the court should have quieted title in the Condo to 

Archdale, subject to encumbrances of record? 

2. Whether Archdale's action was brought in good faith and 

was not frivolous? 

3. Whether the court should have awarded attorney's fees and 

costs to O'Danne pursuant to RCW 4.84.185. 

4. Whether Archdale is entitled to an award for her reasonable 

attorney's fees and costs on contractual and equitable basis, and for having 

to respond to O'Danne's claim of a frivolous action. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE: 

Archdale filed this quiet title action on June 4, 2010, alleging 

O'Danne refused to honor her promise to quit claim the Condo's title to 

Archdale so Archdale could refinance the Condo's mortgage in her own 

name. CP 296, CP 300:6-8. Further, Archdale filed this action because 

O'Danne operated under the false assumption that a March 2007 court 
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order prohibited her from transferring the Condo's title to Archdale. CP 5, 

CP 29, CP 32, November 13,2013 VR at 126:6-17. 

Bench trial of this matter occurred in Snohomish County Superior 

Court before the Honorable Millie M. Judge on October 10, 2014 and 

November 13 and 14, 2014. October 10, 2014 VR 1-44, November 13 

and 14,2014 VR 1-230. After trial, the court issued a Decision and Order 

on November 14,2014, finding equitable grounds for granting Archdale a 

constructive trust in the Condo (CP at 152, ,-r,-r2, 7-8) but refusing to quiet 

title in Archdale. CP at 152, ,-r2. Further, the trial court ordered Archdale 

to "purchase" the Condo no later than 5:00 p.m. on Monday, May 14, 

2014 via a Purchase and Sale Agreement whereby O'Danne would 

transfer title via quit-claim deed to Archdale upon Archdale satisfying the 

underlying debt. CP 153 ,-r8.a. The trial court ordered the forced sale of 

the Condo if Archdale was unable to "purchase" it by May 14, 2014. 

CP 153 ,-r8.b. Finally, the trial court ordered payment to O'Danne of25% 

of the excess proceeds of the Condo's sale as "compensation for the use of 

her credit" by Archdale. CP 153 ,-r8.c.ii. 

In its November 14, 2013 Decision and Order, the trial court also 

found the litigation was not frivolous or brought in violation of CR 11. 

CP at 154, ,-r12. However, on January 27, 2014, the court granted 

reconsideration, amending paragraph 12 of its November 14, 2013 

5 
20359 02 ph25c712ws (KA) 



Decision and Order and allowing O'Oanne to bring a motion for 

attorney's fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.84.185, the frivolous lawsuit 

statute. 

On April 4, 2014, the trial court entered findings and an order 

granting O'Danne's motion for attorney's fees and costs, totaling 

$55,388.91. CP 15-18. On April 18, 2014, the trial court entered 

"corrected" findings, nunc pro tunc to April 4, 2014. CP 11-14. On May 

5, 2014, the trial court entered a judgment confirming its April 4, 2014 

decision and order, as amended, nunc pro tunc to April 4, 2014. CP 1-3. 

E. ARGUMENT: 

1. Standard of Review - Abuse of Discretion 

Because of the merger of law and equity in Washington, appellate 

courts review trial court decisions in equitable proceedings for abuse of 

discretion. See Wilhelm v. Beyersdorf, 100 Wn.App. 836, 850, 999 P.2d 

54,62 (2000) (trial court did not abuse discretion in reforming easement to 

reflect its actual use), and see Coy v. Raabe, 77 Wn.2d 322, 462 P.2d 214 

(1969). 

Likewise, the standard of reVIew regarding prevailing party 

sanctions under RCW 4.84.185 is abuse of discretion. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n 

of Washington v. McCarthy, 152 Wn. App. 720; 218 P.3d 196 (2009); 

State ex reI. Quick-Ruben v. Verharen, 136 Wn.2d 888, 903; 969 P.2d 64 

6 
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(1998). Abuse of discretion "[ ... ] occurs when the trial court takes a view 

no reasonable person would take, or applies the wrong legal standard to an 

issue." Wright v. Dave Johnson Ins. Inc., 167 Wn.App. 758, 775; 275 P.3d 

339 (2012), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1008; 285 P.3d 885 (2012). 

A court abuses its discretion in awarding sanctions under RCW 4.84.185 if 

any claim advances to trial with reasonable cause: 

[T]he language and the history of the frivolous lawsuit 
statute (RCW 4.84.185) are clear. The lawsuit, as a whole, 
that is in its entirety, must be determined to be frivolous 
and to have been advanced without reasonable cause before 
an award of attorneys' fees may be made under the statute. 

Biggs v. Vail, 119 Wn.2d 129,137; 830 P.2d 350 (1992). 

In Biggs J, we reversed the trial court's award of fees under 
RCW 4.84.185 because the trial court found only three of 
four claims asserted by Biggs to be frivolous. Because the 
fourth claim advanced to trial, the suit could not be 
considered frivolous in its entirety. Thus, fees under 
RCW 4.84.185 were not appropriate. Jd. at 132, 137, 830 
P.2d 350. Under Biggs J, if any claims advance to trial, a 
trial court's award of fees under RCW 4.84.185 cannot be 
sustained. 

Verharen, supra, 136 Wn.2d at 903-04. 

2. The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to quiet 
title in Archdale. 

The trial court refused to quiet title in the Condo to Archdale, 

despite imposing a constructive trust in her favor, and despite the parties' 

agreement that Archdale is the Condo's constructive owner. CP 151 ~2, 
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Ex. 26. The trial court did so based on the erroneous finding that Archdale 

promised to payoff the underlying mortgage "as soon as she received her 

inheritance[.]" CP 152 ~6. In fact, O'Danne testified on direct 

examination the parties had no agreement as to when Archdale would pay 

off the mortgage, November 13, 2013 VR 17:9-19; and she agreed 

Archdale was the Condo's constructive owner. See Ex 26. Regardless, 

the equities favor quieting title in Archdale when she pays off the Condo's 

mortgage. 

Fee simple title is not necessary to plead and prove a quiet title 

action. Some possessory interest is sufficient, as is equitable title. 

W. Stoebuck, J. Weaver, Ejectment and Quiet Title Actions, 18 

Wash.Prac., Real Estate § 11.3 (2d ed.). 

A constructive trust is an equitable remedy which arises 
when the person holding title to property has an equitable 
duty to convey it to another on the grounds that they would 
be unjustly enriched if permitted to retain it. Constructive 
trusts are imposed when there is clear, cogent and 
convincing evidence of the basis for impressing the trust. 

City of Lakewood v. Pierce Cnty., 144 Wn.2d 118, 126,30 P.3d 446,450 
(2001) 

Constructive trusts can be imposed in broad circumstances not 

arising to fraud or undue influence. Baker v. Leonard, 120 Wn.2d 538, 

547, 843 P .2d 1050 (1993). Indeed, when legal title to property has been 

obtained through any means or circumstances rendering it unconscientious 
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2035902 ph25c712ws (KA) 



for the holder of the legal title to retain and enjoy the beneficial interest, 

equity impresses a constructive trust. Kausky v. Kosten. 27 Wash.2d 721, 

727-28, 179 P.2d 950 (1947) (quoting 4 S. Symons, Equity Jurisprudence 

§ 1053, at 119 (5th ed. 1941)). The trial court rightly impressed such a 

trust in Archdale in the present case. CP 151 ~2 . 

In Smith v. Monson, 157 Wn.App. 443, 236 P.3d 991 (2010), 

a case similar to the present one, the plaintiff conveyed property to a 

relative so the relative could borrow money for the plaintiff. Rather than 

conveying the property back to the plaintiff when the plaintiff paid off the 

underlying debt on the property, the relative conveyed it to family 

members. Id. at 445. The Smith court held the plaintiffs action was one 

of an equitable mortgage, and the defendant had an equitable duty to 

convey it back to the plaintiff once the plaintiff paid off the mortgage. 

Id. at 447. 

Like the defendant in Smith, O'Danne has an equitable duty to 

convey title back to Archdale, subject to encumbrances. This can be 

accomplished by O'Danne simply signing a quit-claim deed to Archdale 

and placing it in escrow, or by O'Danne simply holding title until 

Archdale pays off the Condo's mortgage, then transferring it to Archdale 

via quit-claim deed. Any other result would be unconscientious and 

inequitable. The trial court's refusal to quiet title in Archdale, subject to 

9 
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encumbrances, ignores O'Danne's equitable duty to convey title to 

Archdale. As such, the trial court abused its discretion in not quieting 

title. 

3. The trial court abused its discretion in 
ordering Archdale to "purchase" the Condo by 
May 14,2014, or, in the alternative, ordering 
the forced sale of the Condo if Archdale were 
unable to "purchase" it by May 14,2014. 

For the same reason the court abused its discretion in refusing to 

quiet title in Archdale, it abused its discretion in ordering Archdale to 

"purchase" the Condo by May 14,2014, or, in the alternative, ordering the 

forced sale of the Condo if Archdale were unable to "purchase" it by 

May 14, 2014. The court in the present case found clear, cogent and 

convincing evidence for granting Archdale a constructive trust in the 

Condo. CP 151 ~2. Indeed, the parties agreed Archdale is the Condo's 

constructive owner. Ex. 26. It necessarily follows that O'Danne has a 

duty to convey title to the Condo to Archdale, subject to encumbrances of 

record. See City of Lakewood, supra, 144 Wn.2d at 126, and see Brooke 

v. Robinson, 125 Wn. App. 253, 257, 104 P.3d 674 (2004). By ordering 

Archdale to purchase the Condo by May 14, 2014, or, in the alternative, 

ordering the forced sale of the Condo by that date, the trial court ignored 

O'Danne's equitable duty to convey title to Archdale. As such, the trial 

court abused its discretion. 

10 
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4. The trial court erred in granting O'Danne of 25% of the 
net proceeds of the sale of the Condo. 

The trial court erroneously granted O'Danne 25% of the net 

proceeds from any sale of the Condo. CP 153, ,-r8.c.ii. Because the 

constructive trust imposes an equitable duty on O'Danne to convey the 

Condo's title to Archdale once Archdale pays off the underlying 

mortgage, it necessarily follows that O'Danne would be unjustly enriched 

if she were allowed to receive any proceeds from the sale of the Condo. 

See City of Lakewood, supra, 144 Wn.2d at 126; and see Brooke, supra, 

125 Wn.App. at 257: 

"[A] person who is unjustly enriched at the expense of 
another is liable in restitution to the other." Quasi 
contracts, or contracts implied by law, are founded on the 
equitable principle of unjust enrichment that one should 
not be "unjustly enriched at the expense of another." 
A person has been unjustly enriched when he has profited 
or enriched himself at the expense of another contrary to 
equity. Enrichment alone will not trigger the doctrine; the 
enrichment must be unjust under the circumstances and as 
between the two parties to the transaction. Three 
elements must be established for unjust enrichment: 
(1) there must be a benefit conferred on one party by 
another; (2) the party receiving the benefit must have an 
appreciation or knowledge of the benefit; and (3) the 
receiving party must accept or retain the benefit under 
circumstances that make it inequitable for the receiving 
party to retain the benefit without paying its value. 

Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray, LLC, 139 Wn.App. 560, 576; 161 P.3d 473, 482 
(2007) (internal citations omitted). 

11 
20359 02 ph25c712ws (KA) 



O'Danne received the benefit of "ownership" of the Condo without 

the burden. Archdale has paid all costs associated with the Condo. 

O'Danne suffered no adverse consequences from Archdale missing two 

mortgage payments in February and March 2012, as O'Danne neither 

applied for nor was denied any credit as a result. CP 186:14-16. Further, 

Archdale has since reimbursed O'Danne for those payments. 

By contrast, O'Danne failed to act in an equitable manner. She 

kept the proceeds from escrow refund checks related to the Condo's 

mortgage even though she knew they belonged to Archdale. CP 20:9-19, 

23 :5-18. She never asked the Condo's mortgage lender, Chase Bank, 

whether it would consent to transferring title to Archdale, despite the 

Bank's authority to do so, and despite Archdale's repeated demands that 

she do so since 2005. CP 179:8-20; 185:2-186:6; 193:15-18; Ex. 39, p.l8. 

Likewise, O'Danne never asked Chase Bank to hold a quit-claim deed in 

escrow pending Archdale obtaining funds to payoff the underlying debt 

on the mortgage, despite Archdale asking her to do so for years. CP 193:4 

- 194: 11. O'Danne cited "security" as her rationale for refusing to put the 

Condo's title in escrow. 194:25 - 195:4. Despite her multiple represent

tations to the contrary, when Archdale presented O'Danne with an offer to 

payoff the underlying obligation on the Condo in its entirety, O'Danne 

12 
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refused unless Archdale simultaneously paid off of a separate judgment 

against Archdale in the Franzen Estate action. CP 53 :5-11. 

It would be inequitable for O'Danne to receive any proceeds from 

the sale of the Condo, as she has not acted in equity, and she would be 

unjustly enriched thereby. There is no reason to force the sale of the 

Condo as long as Archdale continues to make all payments associated 

with it. However, if the Condo is sold, all excess proceeds should go to 

Archdale. The trial court abused its discretion in ordering otherwise. 

5. The Trial Court Erred in Awarding "Frivolous Action" 
Attorney's Fees and Costs. 

A lawsuit or defense, in its entirety, must be determined to be 

frivolous and to have been advanced without reasonable cause before an 

award of prevailing party attorneys' fees can be made pursuant to 

RCW 4.84.185. Biggs. supra, 119 Wn.2d 129, 133; 830 P.2d 350, 352 

(1992). "A case is not necessarily frivolous because a party ultimately 

loses on a factual or legal ground." W.R.P. Lake Union Ltd. P'ship v. 

Exterior Servs., Inc., 85 Wn.App. 744, 752; 934 P.2d 722, 727 (1997). 

Indeed, a claim can even be found meritless but not frivolous. See, e.g., 

Lockhart v. Greive, 66 Wn.App. 735, 744; 834 P.2d 64, 69 (1992). 

An action is only frivolous if it "cannot be supported by any 

rational argument based in fact or law." Granville Condo. Homeowners 

13 
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Ass'n v. Kuehner, 177 Wn.App. 543; 312 P.3d 702,710 (2013), quoting 

Wright v. Dave Johnson Ins. Inc., 167 Wn.App. 758, 785; 275 P.3d 339, 

review denied, 175 Wash.2d 1008; 285 P.3d 885 (2012). Under 

RCW 4.84.185, the trial court is not empowered to sort through the 

lawsuit, search for abandoned frivolous claims and then award fees based 

solely on such isolated claims. Biggs, supra, 119 Wn.2d at 136. Indeed, 

when an action is not entirely frivolous, an award of any sanctions under 

RCW 4.84.185 is unwarranted, even for allegedly frivolous causes of 

action. Id. at 133-37. 

The court in Wright, supra, found the trial court abused its 

discretion in awarding fees under RCW 4.84.185 when it found the 

plaintiffs testimony not credible. At the hearing on the Wright 

Defendants' post-judgment motion for fees under RCW 4.84.185, the trial 

court opined, "What is a frivolous lawsuit [ or] defense other than you 

know it when you see it[,]" and referring to the Plaintiffs "deceitfulness," 

"dishonesty," and "basically false testimony." The Wright court held the 

trial court applied the wrong standard, reasoning that, 

2035902 ph25c712w5 (KA) 

[e]ven if we disregard Wright's testimony, as we must, 
based on the trial court's credibility determination, the 
evidence viewed in the light most favorable to Wright 
nevertheless shows a dispute was ongoing between Wright 
and Johnson over Wright's compensation. [ ... ] Even 
though Wright's counterclaim ultimately failed, it cannot 
be said that it was entirely frivolous. 
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Wright, supra., 167 Wn.App. at 785-87. 

Like the trial court in Wright, supra, the trial court in the present 

case used the wrong standard in awarding attorney's fees and costs to 

O'Danne:

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