COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 71905-0-I

SANDRA J. ARCHDALE,

Appellant/ Cross-Respondent,

VS.

SHARYL L. O'DANNE,

Respondent/ Cross-Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Submitted By:
LORNA S. CORRIGAN
(WSBA #13101)
NEWTON • KIGHT L.L.P.
Attorneys for Respondent
1820 - 32nd Street
P.O. Box 79
Everett, Washington 98206
(425) 259-5106

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

Archdale was in fact seeking, and fail to account for the relief afforded O'Danne and the purpose behind RCW 4.84.185. *See* App. 4.

Before trial Archdale abandoned her theory of resulting trust, VRP 4, 11. 8-9, and at trial she produced no evidence of or argument on the claim for damages that she asserted in her complaint. See generally Verbatim Report of Proceedings. See also Complaint at 5, 11. 21-22, CP 302 (claim for damages). The entirety of Archdale's case as presented at trial, therefore, was her claim to have title instantly quieted in her, subject only to encumbrances of record. Complaint at 5, ll. 15-20, CP 302. The constructive trust was a theory on which she based her asserted right to legal title, see, e.g., Complaint at 4, ll. 19-23, CP 301, but it was not the relief that she sought. On the contrary she rejected the suggestion of a trust with ongoing provisions. VRP 127-28, 11. 23-25 and 1. The entirety of her claim was thus that title be guieted immediately in her name, without a simultaneous payoff of the mortgage.

It is true that the trial court's decision states that a constructive trust had been imposed "in Archdale's favor", Decision and Order at 2, ¶ 7, CP 5, but the trust actually contained no terms that supported

Archdale's claim to quiet title without a payoff. *See generally* Decision and Order, CP 4-7. Tellingly, while O'Danne had represented to the court before trial that she would not object to the imposition of a constructive trust if it protected her interests and "would resolve all current issues between the parties . . .", VRP 6, II. 10-20, she reserved her argument that the litigation was unnecessary and frivolous. VRP 5-6, II. 5-18 and 4-22. Thus Archdale's argument on appeal is that the mere fact that a constructive trust was imposed, on any conditions, meant that her suit was not entirely frivolous.

She relies for her argument on the authority of <u>Biggs v. Vail</u>, 119 Wn.2d 129, 830 P.2d 350 (1992). *See* Brief of App. at 13. The Supreme Court in <u>Biggs</u> did state that a lawsuit must be frivolous "in its entirety", <u>Biggs</u> at 133, before an award of fees may be made under RCW 4.84.185. <u>Biggs</u>, however, involved case in which the trial court had found that only three of the four claims asserted were frivolous. *Id.* at 137. The Supreme Court agreed that the plaintiff's contract claim had been well-founded, and reversed the trial court's award of fees under RCW 4.84.185, because that award had been based on the frivolousness of only three of the four claims made. *Id.* Consequently

the case "as a whole" could not be deemed frivolous. *Id.* [Emphasis in the original.] Here, in contrast, the "whole", *id.*, of Archdale's action and request for relief at trial was only to obtain immediate legal title in her name. Complaint at 5, ll. 15-21, CP 302. *See also* VRP 127-28, ll. 23-25 and 1. (Archdale not content to continue making payments.) That request for relief was the "entirety", <u>Biggs</u> at 136, of her case, and she failed entirely in that effort.

The question then remains whether the claim to quiet title was asserted without reasonable cause. *Id.* The answer, must be "yes", for Archdale had no factual or legal basis for attempting to force a conveyance of the condo without a payoff of the mortgage.

The suit was factually without merit. Archdale testified that O'Danne had orally agreed to purchase the condo and then convey it immediately to Archdale so that Archdale could seek to refinance, VRP 117-18, II. 22-25 and 1. No other witness asserted personal knowledge of an agreement that O'Danne would convey without a payoff, however, see generally Verbatim Transcript, and no finding was entered that accepted Archdale's testimony as to such an agreement. See generally Decision and Order, CP 151. Instead the court found that Archdale had

promised to use her inheritance to pay off the financing, but that she had failed, in bad faith, to do so. *Id.* at 2,¶ 3, CP 152. Because the conflicting evidence was resolved in favor of O'Danne, and because there was no other evidence of an agreement by O'Danne to convey immediately, and without a payoff, the claim to quiet title based on an oral agreement to convey as asserted by Archdale was without basis in fact. *Compare* Wright v. Dave Johnson Ins. Inc., 167 Wn. App. 758 at 787. (Unsuccessful claim could not be deemed frivolous for purposes of attorneys' fee award despite rejection of plaintiff's testimony where other evidence in the record supported the claim.)

Archdale's claim was also without basis in law. Constructive trusts arise out of equity, and are employed to "compel the holder of legal title to convey the beneficial interest to the one who justly deserves it". Baker v. Leonard, 120 Wn.2d 538 at 547. The trial court in this case exercised its equitable discretion to determine that while title should not ultimately remain with O'Danne, *see* Decision and Order at 2-3, ¶ 8, CP 152-53, O'Danne had never contested that result, *id.* at 2, ¶ 5, CP 152, and Archdale did not justly deserve the relief she sought. Archdale acted in bad faith in breaking her promise to pay off

the mortgage with her inheritance, Decision and Order at 2, ¶ 3, CP 152, and the equities instead "favor[ed]...O'Danne, who received no benefit from having held title over the course of this dispute, and who did not deny Archdale's entitlement to clear title upon a payoff of the existing mortgage." See F of F No. 2.e, Corrected Findings and Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Attorneys' Fees at 3, CP 13. Archdale also had advance notice of the futility of her claim. She pursued the litigation despite her own counsel's warning, years before she commenced the litigation, that if she did not qualify to either assume the mortgage or pay off the mortgage balance, he did not "believe a court would order that Ms. O'Danne transfer ownership of the condo to ... [her]." EX. 32.

Most important, the court specifically concluded that Archdale "had no need to call upon equitable powers of the court because O'DANNE was willing without such a lawsuit to convey the condominium to Archdale . . . upon a simultaneous payoff . . . but Archdale needlessly declined to do so." Corrected Findings and Order at 3, 1l. 7-10, CP 13. In other words, the suit was "advanced without reasonable cause", <u>Biggs</u> at 137, thereby necessitating the expenditure

of thousands of dollars in attorneys' fees by O'Danne in defending Archdale's spurrious claim. *See* Corrected Findings and Order at 3, ll. 20-21, CP 13. This case was not simply meritless; it was advanced without reasonable cause.

Finally, Archdale's argument that O'Danne cannot receive an award under RCW 4.84.185 because she did not receive an affirmative judgment in her favor, Brief of App. at 19, is untenable. She relies for her argument on Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). See Brief of App. at 19. The court in Riss, however, applied RCW 4.84.330, see Riss at 633, a statute that gives bilateral effect to contractual provisions for attorneys' fees. See App. 5. RCW 4.84.330 by its terms requires a final judgment, and hence the construction of that statute as requiring an affirmative judgment in a party seeking fees is unsurprising. There is no such language in RCW 4.84.185, in contrast. Indeed the latter statute clearly applies in circumstances other than that of an affirmative award to a defendant, such as that of a voluntary dismissal by a plaintiff. See App. 4.

In any event, the trial court here expressly determined that O'Danne had obtained affirmative relief in multiple forms. See

Corrected Findings and Order at 2, ll. 16-24, CP 12. (O'Danne received relief in that she will be removed from title through a sale to Archdale or to a third party, and, in the latter event, through compensation for the consumption over the years of her good credit.) O'Danne was not required to, but did, effectively obtain an affirmative judgment in this case.

The trial court's determination that Archdale's claim was without rational basis in law or fact, Corrected Findings and Order at 3, Il. 2-3, CP 13, and was thus frivolous within the meaning of RCW 4.84.185, furthers the purpose of RCW 4.84.185 of discouraging frivolous lawsuits and compensating "the targets of such lawsuits for fees and expenses incurred in fighting meritless cases," <u>Biggs</u> at 137. The court here found that O'Danne had incurred significant attorneys' fees in defending against the frivolous claims, and should be compensated therefore. Corrected Order at 3, Il. 20-21, CP 13. The award of attorneys' fees under RCW 4.84.185 was appropriate and should be affirmed.

E. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS
DISCRETION IN DENYING O'DANNE'S
MOTIONS FOR ORDER SHORTENING TIME
AND TO STRIKE BASED ON A LACK OF
TIME WITHIN WHICH ARCHDALE COULD
RESPOND TO THE MOTIONS IN WRITING,
WHERE INSUFFICIENT TIME REMAINED IN
WHICH TO GIVE STANDARD NOTICE OF
THE MOTION TO STRIKE.

Motions for orders shortening time are determined in the discretion of the court, see State ex rel. Citizens Against Tolls (CAT) v. Murphy, 151 Wn.2d 226, 239-40, 88 P.3d 375 (2004), as are motions to strike. King Cnty. Fire Prot. Districts No. 16, No. 36 & No. 40 v. Hous. Auth. of King Cnty., 123 Wn.2d 819, 826, 872 P.2d 516 (1994). In the present case, the trial court denied O'Danne's Motions for Order Shortening Time and to Strike portions of a declaration from Archdale that was filed in opposition to O'Danne's Motion for Award of Attorneys' Fees. See Corrected Findings and Order at 4, line 9, CP 14. Those portions included material from confidential settlement negotiations between the parties. See Declaration of Lorna S. Corrigan In Support of Motion to Strike, CP 307-09. The basis on which the court denied the motions to shorten time and to strike was that Archdale did not have sufficient time before the hearing on the merits of the

motion for attorneys' fees to respond to the Motion to Strike in writing. *Id.* at 3-4, 11. 23-24 and 1-3 and 9, CP 13-14. The denial was error.

The offensive declaration in this case was filed in response to O'Danne's Motion for Award of Attorneys' Fees. *See* Declaration of Archdale in Response to Motion for Attorneys' Fees, CP 52. The declaration related certain of the contents of confidential settlement negotiations of the parties, which contents were clearly offered for the purpose of disproving Archdale's liability for attorneys' fees under RCW 4.84.185. *Id.* at 1-2, Il. 17-19 and 1-11, CP 52-53.

That Declaration was served on O'Danne on March 6, 2014, see
Declaration of Lorna S. Corrigan In Support of Motion to Strike at 1,

11. 22-26, CP 307, leaving O'Danne until Friday noon under the local
court rules to file and serve rebuttal documents. See SCLCR 6, App. 7.

See also Declaration of Lorna S. Corrigan In Support of Motion to
Strike at 2, Il. 1-3, CP 308. The hearing on the merits of O'Danne's
motion for attorneys' fees was set for 1:00 p.m. on March 10, 2014, see
Note for Presentation, CP 336. There was therefore no five-day period
remaining between the filing of Archdale's Declaration on March 6,
2014, Declaration of Lorna S. Corrigan In Support of Motion to Strike

at 1, II. 22-24, CP 307, and the hearing on the merits. *Id.* at 23. Moreover, March 6, 2014, was a Thursday, *id.* at 1. 25, so a weekend intervened between O'Danne's receipt of the objectionable material and the hearing on the merits of the claim for attorneys' fees. Consequently, O'Danne's counsel, Lorna Corrigan, had twenty-four hours in which to prepare and serve her rebuttal materials, *see* SCLCR 6, App. 7, and only the equivalent of two court days in which to present and obtain an order shortening time for hearing on the Motion to Strike. Ms. Corrigan prepared and served by noon on Friday, March 7, 2014, *See* Declaration of Lorna S. Corrigan In Support of Motion to Strike at 2, II. 2-5, CP 308, both a rebuttal to Archdale's response to the motion for an award of attorneys' fees, and a Motion to Strike. *Id.* at 3-5.

Rather than use his time to respond to the Motion to Strike, counsel to Archdale, Joel Nichols, chose to serve O'Danne, on the afternoon of Friday, March 7, 2014, with an objection to that motion. CP 334-35. Ms. Corrigan then contacted Mr. Nichols, Declaration of Lorna S. Corrigan In Support of Motion to Strike at 2, line 12, CP 308, who insisted that an order to shorten time be obtained. *Id.* at 15-16. He did so even while indicating that he would not make himself available

that afternoon for a hearing on a motion to shorten time because he had a client coming in late that afternoon. *Id.* at line 20. Mr. Nichols indicated that it would be an "abuse of process" if such a motion were nonetheless presented that afternoon. *Id.* at 11. 20-21.

Archdale's counsel made those statements knowing that it was extremely unlikely that O'Danne's counsel could obtain a hearing before a judge on Monday morning, before a 1:00 p.m. hearing the same day.

Id. at II. 21-23. Mr. Nichols never suggested or requested a continuance of the hearing on the merits. Instead he insisted that his materials were appropriate and that the parties should just go forward with the main motion on Monday. Id. at II. 16-19.

O'Danne's counsel then attempted to secure a hearing on the motion to shorten time, but was informed by the law clerk to the court that there was no court time remaining on Monday morning before the hearing on the merits. *Id.* at 2-3, ll. 24-25 and 1-3, CP 308-09. Counsel to O'Danne therefore gave notice *via* e-mail and voicemail, on Friday, March 7, 2014, of her intent to present the motions for order shortening time and to Strike immediately prior to the hearing on the merits on

Monday at 1:00 p.m. Id. at 3, ll. 1-3, CP 309.1

O'Danne's counsel did present those motions immediately prior to the hearing on the merits, but both motions were denied. *See* Corrected Findings at 4, line 9, CP 14. The court's reasoning was simply that Archdale did not have adequate time to respond in writing to the Motion to Strike. *Id.* at 3-4, ll. 24-25 and 1-3.

This determination by the court was an abuse of discretion because it was manifestly unreasonable and was based on untenable grounds. *See* Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors, 168 Wn.2d 664, 669, 230 P.2d 583 (2010). Archdale's counsel had more time to respond in writing to the Motion to Strike, *see* Declaration of Lorna S. Corrigan at 2, Il. 1-3 (all day on Friday, all weekend, and all of Monday morning before the hearing), than did O'Danne's counsel in which to prepare her rebutttal documents and the Motion to Strike. *Id.* at 1-2, Il. 25 and 1-5, CP 307-08. There was adequate time for Mr. Nichols to either respond in writing or to seek a continuance of the main motion. He did neither,

The Motion to Strike was re-filed with the court and re-served on Archdale on March 10, 2014, see CP 310, but the relevant portions of the Motion to Strike remained the same as those found in the Motion to Strike filed on March 7, 2014. Compare Motion filed March 7, 2014, CP 316-17, II. 21-25 and 1-3 with Motion to Strike filed March 10, 2014, CP 310-11, II. 15-25 and 1-14.

preferring instead to simply object to a hearing on the Motion to Strike. *Id.* at 2, Il. 16-23.

It was unreasonable and untenable for the court to reward that conduct by denying the Motion to Strike simply on grounds that Archdale did not have adequate time to prepare a written response. The result was that Archdale succeeded in peppering her response to the motion for attorneys' fees with inadmissible evidence, for which conduct O'Danne's counsel was afforded no remedy other than to ask the court for a continuance of her main motion for attorneys' fees. O'Danne should not, however, have been required to seek a continuance of her main motion because Archdale submitted privileged and inadmissible matter in her response to the motion or attorneys' fees. Under the circumstances of this case, the denial of the motions to shorten time and to strike based on the lack of time for a written response was an abuse of discretion.

It is true that the court ultimately granted O'Danne's motion for attorneys' fees, *see* Corrected Order and Findings, CP 11, despite the submission of objectionable material by Archdale. However, the denial of the Motion to Strike is not harmless error here, where Archdale has cited to the inadmissible material in her brief on appeal. *See* Brief of App. at 17-18. (Relying on material in Archdale's Declaration in Response to Motion for Attorneys' Fees at 2, ll. 5-11, CP 53, that was the subject of the Motion to Strike. *See* Motion at 1-2, ll. 23-24 and line 1, CP 310-11.)

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